DO NOT REMOVE

Docket No. 22-0197





STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, Plaintiff, Below, Respondent

FILE COPY

Vs.)

18-F-31 (Jefferson County)

RUSTY ALLEN WHITE Defendant, Below, Petitioner.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Counsel for the Petitioner,

Christian J. Riddell, Esquire WV Bar #12202 The Riddell Law Group 329 S. Queen Street Martinsburg, WV 25401 (304)267-3949 mail@theriddelllawgroup.com

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The Circuit Court erred by denying Petitioner's motion to dismiss and finding that it could impose an additional sentence of incarceration on Petitioner beyond the statutory maximum without a jury.
- The Circuit Court erred by finding that the State had met it burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that Petitioner was guilty of conspiracy to distribute CDS.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about October 1, 2018, Petitioner pled No Contest to the felony offense of Sexual Assault in the Third Degree, occurring on June 29, 2018. See Amended Petition for Revocation of Supervised Release (Appendix Record ("Appendix Record pg. 46). As a result of said plea, Petitioner was sentenced to the statutorily required indeterminate sentence of no less than one nor more than five years in the penitentiary. *Ibid.* It was further ordered that Defendant would be sentenced to ten years supervised release upon his release.

On January 14, 2021, having completed the maximum sentence of incarceration of five years (1.5 year in actual time served plus day-for-day credit for good conduct per W.Va. Code § 15A-4-17 et seq. plus an additional 1 year of parole), Petitioner was released from incarceration and began his 10 year sentence of Supervised Release under the supervision of the Jefferson County Probation Department. *Ibid*. While on supervised release, Defendant was subject to the following terms of Supervised Release, among others:

 The probationer shall not violate any law of this state, any other state, any municipality or of the United States. 14. The Probationer shall not use, consume, purchase, possess or distribute any narcotics, marijuana, or other controlled substance, unless prescribed to him or her by a Physician.
Id. at p. 2 (AR pg. 24).

Thereafter, on January 5, 2022, Probation Officer Morgan McDonald filed an Amended Petition for Revocation of Supervised Release, alleging violations of the terms of supervised release described above. Specifically, PO McDonald alleged that he had failed a urinalysis by testing positive for cocaine and had further been charged with Conspiracy to Distribute Crack Cocaine on November 9, 2021 and had further been charged with Obtaining Money by False pretenses on December 9, 2021. *Ibid*.

In response, Petitioner filed a Motion to Dismiss Petition for Revocation on the basis that, because the Defendant had already killed his maximum sentence, and pursuant to *Apprendi* line of cases, the Court could not sentence him to an additional term of incarceration without a jury trial. *See Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Petition for Revocation of Supervised Release* (AR pg. 52). The State filed a Response in Opposition on February 8, 2022, and the Jefferson County Circuit Court denied Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss at the outset of Petitioner's revocation hearing. *See Transcript of Proceedings of February 16, 2022* ("AR pg. 71"), Il. 3:6-12; 5:20-24. Thereafter, the State proceeded with its evidence. Ultimately, the Defendant admitted to using crack cocaine (Id. at 87:1-4), and Court found Petitioner not guilty by clear and convincing evidence of Obtaining Money by False Pretences (Id. at 91:20-22), but guilty of Conspiracy to Distribute Crack Cocaine. *Id.* at 90:20 – 91:19. As a result, the Court imposed upon Petitioner an additional two years of incarceration. *Id.* at 99:6-7.

¹ The basis for these charges had been that Petitioner, a contractor, had taken money from prospective clients to complete construction jobs and then did not return. However, testimony revealed that he did not complete the work or return the money because he had been arrested on the crack-cocaine distribution charges days after contracting to do the work. See Id. at 7:1-43:14

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court committed reversible error when it denied Petitioner's Motion to

Dismiss Petition for Revocation of Supervised Release because the revocation called for
incarceration for an amount of time beyond the statutory maximum for the crime he had been
convicted of, and therefore required separate findings of fact by a jury and beyond a reasonable
doubt for further incarceration.

Moreover, even if the Circuit Court had been permitted to make findings of fact towards an additional term of incarceration, the Circuit Court further erred by finding that the State had met its burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that Petitioner was guilty of Conspiracy to Distribute CDS because the evidence shows only that Petitioner was using drugs and there was no evidence submitted which would demonstrate either an agreement to engage in drug distribution or an act in furtherance thereof.

VI. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Petitioner asserts that Oral Argument in this matter is not necessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument.

VII. ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT IT COULD IMPOSE A SENTENCE BEYOND THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM ON THE BASIS OF JUDGE-FOUND FACTS AND WITHOUT A JURY.

This assignment of error concerns a question of law. Questions of law are reviewed de novo. Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Head*, 198 W. Va. 298, 480 S.E.2d 507 (1996).

The case at bar, to wit, a revocation of supervised release wherein the Court is being asked to impose a sentence of incarceration beyond the maximum contemplated by the statutory penalty for the charge of which Defendant was convicted, is dispositively controlled by a line of U.S. Supreme Court precedent which establishes that any criminal penalty or sentencing enhancement which escalates a punishment beyond that allowed for by the underlying criminal statute requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt before a jury or else violates the Constitution's Fifth and Sixth Amendments.

The seminal case on this point is *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), wherein the U.S. Supreme Court held unconstitutional a sentencing scheme that allowed a judge to increase a defendant's sentence beyond the statutory maximum based on the judge's finding of new facts by a preponderance of the evidence. There, the Defendant was indicted on a 23-count indictment and entered into a plea agreement to two counts - Second Degree Possession of a Firearm for Unlawful Purpose and Third-Degree Unlawful Possession of an Antipersonnel Bomb - which carried penalty ranges of 5-10 years and 3-5 years, respectively. *Id.* at 469-70. The plea agreement permitted the State to request the Court to impose a higher "enhanced" sentence on the ground that the offense was committed with a biased purpose (i.e. a hate crime). *Ibid*.

Thereafter, upon the State's filing for enhancement, the Court found that the evidence supported a finding "that the crime was motivated by racial bias." *Id.* at 471. As a result, *Apprendi* was sentenced to incarceration in excess of the legally permissible limit for the relevant charge absent the sentencing enhancement. *Id.* at 470-471. The Supreme Court found this to be unconstitutional, holding:

Our answer to that question was foreshadowed by our opinion in Jones v. United States, 526 U.S. 227, 143 L. Ed. 2d 311, 119 S. Ct. 1215 (1999), construing a federal statute. We there noted that "under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment and the notice and jury trial guarantees of the Sixth Amendment, any fact (other than prior conviction)

that increases the maximum penalty for a crime must be charged in an indictment, submitted to a jury, and proven beyond a reasonable doubt." 526 U.S. at 243, n. 6. The Fourteenth Amendment commands the same answer in this case involving a state.

Id. at 476.

The Court elaborated further, again relying on Jones for holding that "it is unconstitutional for a legislature to remove from the jury the assessment of facts that increase the prescribed range of penalties to which a criminal defendant is exposed. It is equally clear that such facts must be established by proof beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* at 480 (quoting Jones, 526 U.S. at 252-53).

Thereafter, in *Alleyne v. United States*, 570 U.S. 99 (2013), the U.S. Supreme Court, overruling its prior decision in *Harris v. U.S.*, 526 U.S. 545 (2002), held that the *Apprendi* principle applies when a judge finds additional facts to increase the mandatory minimum as well. Wrote the Court:

Harris drew a distinction between facts that increase the statutory maximum and facts that increase only the mandatory minimum. We conclude that this distinction is inconsistent with our decision in Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), and with the original meaning of the Sixth Amendment. Any fact that, by law, increases the penalty for a crime is an "element" that must be submitted to the jury and found beyond a reasonable doubt.

Id. at 103 (emphasis added).

Most recently, in *United States v. Haymond*, 139 S. Ct. 2369, 204 L. Ed. 2d 897 (2019), the Court applied this principal further to supervised release, and, in so doing, provided an excellent synopsis of the precedential reasoning in the *Apprendi* line of cases which demonstrates conclusively that a defendant cannot be sentenced in excess of the statutory maximum based on facts for which he is not entitled to a jury. Defendant will now endeavor to elucidate this line of cases through the Supreme Court's language in *Haymond*.

The *Haymond* Court began its legal analysis by noting the longstanding principals behind the 5th and Sixth Amendment as follows:

Together with the right to vote, those who wrote our Constitution considered the right to trial by jury "the heart and lungs, the mainspring and the center wheel" of our liberties, without which "the body must die; the watch must run down; the government must become arbitrary." Letter from Clarendon to W. Pym (Jan. 27, 1766), in 1 Papers of John Adams 169 (R. Taylor ed. 1977). Just as the right to vote sought to preserve the people's authority over their government's executive and legislative functions, the right to a jury trial sought to preserve the people's authority over its judicial functions. J. Adams, Diary Entry (Feb. 12, 1771), in 2 Diary and Autobiography of John Adams 3 (L. Butterfield ed. 1961); see also 2 J. Story, Commentaries on the Constitution § 1779, pp. 540-541 (4th ed. 1873). Toward that end, the Framers adopted the Sixth Amendment's promise that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury." In the Fifth Amendment, they added that no one may be deprived of liberty without "due process of law." Together, these pillars of the Bill of Rights ensure that the government must prove to a jury every criminal charge beyond a reasonable doubt, an ancient rule that has "extend[ed] down centuries." Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 477, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000).

Id. at 2375-76.

"But" asked the court, posing the key question at issue in the instant case, "when does a 'criminal prosecution' arise implicating the right to trial by jury beyond a reasonable doubt?" *Id.* at 2376. In answer, the Court expressly linked it to punishment, saying:

At the founding, a "prosecution" of an individual simply referred to "the manner of [his] formal accusation... And the concept of "crime" was a broad one linked to punishment, amounting to those 'acts to which the law affixes... punishment,' or, stated differently, those 'element[s] in the wrong upon which the punishment is based.'... Consistent with these understandings, juries in our constitutional order exercise supervisory authority over the judicial function by limiting the judge's power to punish. A judge's authority to issue a sentence derives from, and is limited by, the jury's factual findings of criminal conduct."

Ibid.

The Court then discussed the *Apprendi* case, noting the dispositive nature of that matter on Haymond's appeal.

A jury convicted the defendant of a gun crime that carried a maximum prison sentence of 10 years. But then a judge sought to impose a longer sentence pursuant to a statute that authorized him to do so if he found, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the defendant had committed the crime with racial bias. Apprendi held this scheme

unconstitutional. "Any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum," this Court explained, "must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt," or admitted by the Defendant. 530 U.S. at 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348. Nor may a State evade this traditional restraint on the judicial power by simply calling the process of finding new facts and imposing a new punishment a judicial "sentencing enhancement."... "The relevant inquiry is one not of form, but of effect—does the required judicial finding expose the defendant to a greater punishment than that authorized by the jury's guilty verdict. Id., at 494, 120 S.Ct. 2348.

Id. at 2377. (emphasis added).

The *Haymond* Court then noted that this same precedent applied not only to statutory maximums, but minimums as well. Said the Court

Before Apprendi, however, this Court had held that facts elevating the minimum punishment need not be proven to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. McMillan v. Pennsylvania, 477 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 2411, 91 L.Ed.2d 67 (1986); see also Harris v. United States, 536 U.S. 545, 122 S.Ct. 2406, 153 L.Ed.2d 524 (2002) (adhering to McMillan). Eventually, the Court confronted this anomaly in Alleyne. There, a jury convicted the defendant of a crime that ordinarily carried a sentence of five years to life in prison. But a separate statutory "sentencing enhancement" increased the mandatory minimum to seven years if the defendant "brandished" the gun. At sentencing, a judge found by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant had indeed brandished a gun and imposed the mandatory minimum 7-year prison term. This Court reversed. Finding no basis in the original understanding of the Fifth and Sixth Amendments for McMillan and Harris, the Court expressly overruled those decisions and held that "the principle applied in Apprendi applies with equal force to facts increasing the mandatory minimum" as it does to facts increasing the statutory maximum penalty. Alleyne, 570 U.S. at 112, 133 S.Ct. 2151. Nor did it matter to Alleyne 's analysis that, even without the mandatory minimum, the trial judge would have been free to impose a 7-year sentence because it fell within the statutory sentencing range authorized by the jury's findings. Both the "floor" and "ceiling" of a sentencing range "define the legally prescribed penalty." Ibid. And under our Constitution, when "a finding of fact alters the legally prescribed punishment so as to aggravate it" that finding must be made by a jury of the defendant's peers beyond a reasonable doubt. Id., at 114, 133 S.Ct. 2151.

Id. at 2378 (quoting Alleyne, supra, 570 U.S.at 114).

The *Haymond* Court then synthesized these precedents into a unified theory, and applied it to the federal Supervised Release statute, writing:

By now, the lesson for our case is clear. Based on the facts reflected in the jury's verdict, Mr. Haymond faced a lawful prison term of between zero and 10 years under § 2252(b)(2). But then a judge—acting without a jury and based only on a preponderance of the evidence—found that Mr. Haymond had engaged in additional conduct in violation of the terms of his supervised release. Under § 3583(k), that judicial factfinding triggered a new punishment in the form of a prison term of at least five years and up to life. So just like the facts the judge found at the defendant's sentencing hearing in Alleyne, the facts the judge found here increased "the legally prescribed range of allowable sentences" in violation of the Fifth and Sixth Amendments. Id., at 115, 133 S.Ct. 2151. In this case, that meant Mr. Haymond faced a minimum of five years in prison instead of as little as none. Nor did the absence of a jury's finding beyond a reasonable doubt only infringe the rights of the accused; it also divested the "'people at large'"—the men and women who make up a jury of a defendant's peers—of their constitutional authority to set the metes and bounds of judicially administered criminal punishments.

Id. at 2378-79.

In the instant case, Defendant White pled no contest to Third Degree Sexual Assault on June 29, 2018, and was sentenced to the statutorily required sentence of not less than one and no more than five years incarceration. *See Petition for Revocation*, (AR pg. 40) ¶¶ 2, 3. Defendant served the entirety of that sentence, and killed it in its entirety upon his release, at which time he became statutorily subject to 10 years of Supervised Release per W.Va. Code § 62-12-26.

Thereafter the asked the Court to revoke that supervised release, and sentence Petitioner to an additional term of incarceration which, per the language of § 62-12-26(h)(3) would empower this Court to "Revoke a term of supervised release and require the defendant to serve in prison all or part of the term of supervised release without credit for time previously served on supervised release if the court, pursuant to the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure applicable to revocation of probation, finds by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant violated a condition of supervised release..."

However, because Petitioner has already served the maximum sentence which could have been applied per his prior sexual assault conviction, he cannot be sentenced to any further incarceration based on any factual finding made without the aid of a jury trial and the full panoply of due process rights afforded to criminally charged Defendants without running afoul of his 5th and 7th Amendment rights.

The State, in response to Petitioner's arguments in the Circuit Court, suggested that The West Virginia Supreme Court has distinguished the federal supervised released statute discussed in *Haymond* from the state statute via its ruling in *State v. Raymond B*, wherein the Court found that the *Haymond* decision did not act to thwart the revocation of the Defendant's term of probation. There, the Court did attempt to distinguish the federal supervised release statute from West Virginia's, and, in doing so, cited to a prior decision, State v. Edward B., No. 19-1026, 2020 WL 7231608, at *4 (W. Va. Dec. 7, 2020), wherein the Court noted that:

The Haymond plurality "emphasized" that its decision did not address all supervised release proceedings but, rather, was "limited to § 3583(k)—an unusual provision enacted little more than a decade ago—and the Alleyne [v. United States, 570 U.S. 99 (2013)] problem raised by its 5-year mandatory minimum term of imprisonment." Haymond, 139 S. Ct. at 2383. West Virginia Code § 62-12-26, the supervised release statute under which petitioner's supervised release was revoked, was not addressed in Haymond nor is it similar to § 3583(k). Most notably, West Virginia Code § 62-12-26 does not require imposition of a minimum term of incarceration "triggered by judge-found facts," which the Haymond plurality found problematic. 139 S. Ct. at 2383-84. Thus, petitioner has failed to demonstrate any error under Haymond, let alone one that is clear or obvious.

While it is, of course, true that the relevant West Virginia statute does not escalate the minimum term of imprisonment like its federal counterpart, it nevertheless does allow for the escalation of a term of imprisonment beyond the statutorily required parameters for the relevant conviction based on judicially determined facts and at a lower burden of proof than due process requires for criminal convictions — exactly the type of behavior that was prohibited by the *Apprendi* decision ("'under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment and the notice and jury trial guarantees of the Sixth Amendment, *any fact (other than prior conviction) that increases the maximum penalty for a crime must be charged in an indictment, submitted to a*

jury, and proven beyond a reasonable doubt." Apprendi, supra, 530 U.S. at 476 (quoting Jones, supra, 526 U.S. 227) (emphasis added)). It further provides for additional penalties that are not authorized under W.Va. Code § 61-8B-5 (sexual assault third degree), which allows only for imprisonment for 1-5 years and a fine of up to \$10,000. As such, for the purposes of the 5th and 7th Amendment analysis set forth in Apprendi, Alleyne, and Haymond, the West Virginia Supreme Court's decision in Raymond B amounts to a distinction without a material difference for the purposes of the issue currently before the Court.

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