IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 22-0197

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

RUSTY ALLEN WHITE,

Petitioner.

2.00



RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the February 16, 2022, Order Circuit Court of Jefferson County Case No. 18-F-31

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE COPY

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM E. LONGWELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL West Virginia State Bar No. 12290 Office of the Attorney General 1900 Kanawha Blvd. E. State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Tel: (304) 558-5830 Fax: (304) 558-5833 Email: William.E.Longwell@wvago.gov

×.,

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

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner's reliance on the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466 (2000) is entirely misplaced and provides no basis for this Court to grant him the relief he seeks. The Supreme Court's holding in *Apprendi* and its progeny have no application to the facts involved in the present proceedings. The holding in *Apprendi* stands for the notion that a defendant cannot be sentenced to a term that exceeds the statutory maximum when the imposition of that sentence relies on a factual finding that was not part of the jury's verdict, or the defendant's admission. The present case involves a statutory scheme that imposes an additional sentence of supervised release, based solely upon the conviction, and involves no independent factual finding before it may be properly imposed. Thus, Petitioner's first assignment of error is without legal merit, and should be disregarded.

Petitioner's second assignment of error is equally meritless. While the record reveals that the State presented more than sufficient evidence to prove Petitioner committed the offense of Conspiracy to Distribute a Controlled Substance, even if Petitioner's argument is believed, he cannot be entitled to relief as he was also found to have violated the terms of his release upon his use and/or possession of a controlled substance. Additionally, Petitioner's attempt to reclassify a supervised release revocation proceeding as subject to the "graduated sanctions" provisions of the West Virginia Code pertaining to probation revocation proceedings is without any legal support. Accordingly, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate he is entitled to relief, and, thus, this Court should affirm the judgment of the Jefferson County Circuit Court.

V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to Rule 18(a)(4) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, oral argument is unnecessary in this case as the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and

in the record, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument. This case is suitable for resolution by memorandum decision.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

"When reviewing findings of fact and conclusions of law of a circuit court sentencing a defendant following a revocation of probation, we apply a three-pronged standard of review. We review the decision on the probation revocation motion under an abuse of discretion standard; the underlying facts are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard; and questions of law and interpretations of statutes and rules are subject to a *de novo* review." Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Duke*, 200 W. Va. 356, 489 S.E.2d 738 (1997). Also, "[t]he Supreme Court of Appeals reviews sentencing orders . . . under a deferential abuse of discretion standard, unless the order violates statutory or constitutional commands." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, *State v. Lucas*, 201 W. Va. 271, 496 S.E.2d 221 (1997); *see also State v. Raymond B.*, No. 20-0605, 2021 WL 2580715, at *2 (W. Va. Supreme Court, June 23, 2021) (memorandum decision) (applying the above standards to determination as to lower court's order revoking supervised release and imposing a fifteen year prison term).

B. Petitioner's claims in his first assignment of error rests on an erroneous interpretation and application of the United States Supreme Court's holdings in *Apprendi* and its progeny, and, therefore, provide no legal basis for this Court to grant him the relief he seeks.

Petitioner's first assignment of error relies on an erroneous interpretation of the legal precedent announced by the United States Supreme Court in *Apprendi*, and its progeny. In support of his first assignment of error, Petitioner incorrectly relies, not only on *Apprendi*, but also on *Alleyne v. United States*, 570 U.S. 99 (2013); *Harris v. United States*, 526 U.S. 545 (2002); and *United States v. Haymond*, 139 S.Ct. 2369 (2019). Pet'r's Br. at 4-10. None of these cases, however, are applicable to the present proceedings.

1. Apprendi and its progeny do not apply

In order to fully respond to Petitioner's assertions, it is necessary to identify the holdings contained in the *Apprendi* line of cases and the facts upon which they are based. Indeed, Petitioner asserts that this case is

dispositively controlled by a line of U.S. Supreme Court precedent which establishes that any criminal penalty or sentencing enhancement which escalates the punishment beyond that allowed for by the underlying criminal statute requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt before a jury or else [it] violates the Constitution's Fifth and Sixth Amendment.

Pet'r's Br. at 4. While this is an accurate recitation of the precedent established from the *Apprendi* line of cases, Petitioner's interpretation and application of it to the facts involved in the instant proceeding is wholly misguided and erroneous.

The facts at issue in *Apprendi* are not analogous to those involved in the instant proceedings. *Apprendi* involved a defendant who had been convicted of various offenses related to his firing of multiple rounds from a .22 caliber handgun into the residence of an African American family. *Apprendi*, 530 U.S. at 470. The defendant expressly stated shortly after being arrested that his reason for firing the rounds was due to the fact that the family was African American, and that he did not want them in the previously all-white neighborhood to which they had just moved. *Id.* Despite this, the State did not allege in the indictment that the crime was motivated by any sort of racial animus or bias. *Id.* Notwithstanding, after Petitioner entered a plea agreement, the State filed a motion seeking to enhance the statutory sentence due to the Petitioner's "biased purpose" for committing the offense. *Id.* at 470-71. A hearing was held and the defendant contested the imposition of the enhanced sentence. *Id.* The lower court found by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant acted with the relevant racial bias to trigger the

enhancement, and imposed an enhancement that increased the maximum aggregate sentence from twenty years to a term of thirty years. *Id.*

The Supreme Court reversed, and in so doing, expressly disavowed any "legislative scheme that removes the jury from the determination of a fact that, if found, exposes the criminal defendant to a penalty *exceeding* the maximum he would receive if punished according to the facts reflected in the jury verdict alone." *Id.* at 482-83. Thus, the inherent issue here is whether a particular fact has an impact on the sentence necessarily hinges on whether it is properly construed as an "element" of the offense, or a "sentencing factor;" the former needing to be proven by a jury, while the latter may be properly considered by the court. The Court phrased the particular inquiry as "not of form, but of effect—does the required finding expose the defendant to a greater punishment than that authorized by the jury's guilty verdict?"

In *Alleyne*, the Supreme Court reversed the lower court's imposition of an enhanced sentence based upon its finding, after the defendant had been convicted, that one of his crimes was committed while brandishing a weapon. *Alleyne*, 570 U.S. 103-04. The Court agreed with the defendant's argument that the enhancement of his sentence based upon the judicial factual determination that he had "brandished" a firearm, when the jury was never tasked with making such factual determination. *Id.* at 104, 107. As a result, the Petitioner received a mandatory minimum sentence of seven years based upon the additional factual finding, when the sentence for the offense without the enhancement only provided for a minimum five year term. *Id.* at 104.

Finally, in *Haymond*, the defendant was convicted and sentenced to a term of imprisonment followed by a term of supervised release. *Haymond*, 139, S.Ct. at 2374. After the defendant discharged his sentence, and while serving his period of supervised release, he was arrested and charged for additional criminal offenses. *Id.* Pursuant to the statutes involved in Petitioner's initial

conviction and sentence, he was subject to a maximum two-year period of incarceration for any violation of his supervised release. *Id.* However, a separate statute provided that, when a violation occurs that involves certain factual considerations, the court is obligated to impose a mandatory five year to life sentence. *Id.* The Court reversed the sentence, noting that the minimum period of incarceration greatly exceeded the statutorily prescribed sentence, and the enhancement rested upon the finding of additional facts that were never part of the elemental considerations attendant to the initial conviction. *Id.*

The facts presented to this Court do not involve those sentencing considerations the United States Supreme Court disavowed in *Apprendi* and its progeny. As the Supreme Court noted in *Apprendi*, the relevant question is whether there is a factual determination that was not part of the jury verdict or a fact contemplated in the defendant's plea that increased the maximum sentence beyond that which the statute contemplates. The instant case involves no factual finding that triggers the imposition of the period of extended supervised release. Indeed, the mere conviction, standing alone, requires the court to impose a period of supervised release for a period of up to fifty years. W. Va. Code § 62-12-26(a). For reasons discussed in more detail below, Petitioner conflates the element of an offense with a sentencing factor. The factual determinations made by the circuit court in support of its decision to revoke Petitioner's period of supervised release and impose a two-year period of incarceration were clearly "sentencing factors," and, thus, not subject to scrutiny under *Apprendi*.

2. <u>Petitioner's "maximum sentence" was not increased beyond the</u> <u>statutory range, as a period of supervised release of up to fifty years is</u> <u>construed as "part of the original sentence" pursuant to West Virginia</u> <u>Code § 62-12-26.</u>

Petitioner does not dispute that he was properly convicted of the felony offense of Sexual Assault in the Third Degree. West Virginia Code § 61-8B-5(b) provides that any person convicted

of such offense is subject to an indeterminate period of incarceration of not less than one, nor more than five years. In addition, however, West Virginia Code § 62-12-26(a) specifically provides that any person convicted of an offense contained in West Virginia Code § 61-8B-1, *et seq.*, "shall, as part of the sentence imposed at final disposition, be required to serve, in addition to any other penalty or condition imposed by the court, a period of supervised release of up to 50 years" For *Apprendi* purposes, the maximum sentence for Sexual Assault in the Third Degree is a period of incarceration of not less than one, nor more than five years, followed by a period of supervised release of up to fifty years. The period of extended supervised release is mandated upon the conviction of one of the enumerated statutory offenses, and involves no additional factual finding other than proof of each element necessary to sustain the conviction. By pleading guilty to the offense, Petitioner admitted to each of these elemental facts.

Petitioner does not appear to contest the initial imposition of his ten year period of supervised release. In fact, Petitioner explicitly acknowledged the mandatory imposition of such period in his plea agreement. A.R. 20-21. Instead, Petitioner focuses on the factual findings made at the revocation hearing. Pet'r's Br. at 3-10. But as made clear in *Apprendi* and its progeny, whether Petitioner violated a condition of his period of supervised release is a sentencing factor, and is in no way related to the imposition of his initial sentence. The distinction between the instant case and *Apprendi* that Petitioner fails to make is the difference between an elemental factor to the offense, which dictates what sentence applies, with a sentencing factor, which a court may properly consider in tailoring a particular sentence based upon the information before it. As this Court noted in Syllabus Point 11, *State v. James*, 227 W. Va. 407, 710 S.E.2d 98 (2011), "supervised release [is] an inherent part of the sentencing scheme for certain offenses enumerated in West Virginia Code § 62-12-26 (2009)." Thus, any contention made by Petitioner that his

supervised release "increases" the maximum penalty for which he is exposed based upon his conviction is wholly incorrect.

3. <u>Proceedings to revoke a period of supervised release are considered</u> part of the initial prosecution and are tasked with determining whether a violation of the sentence imposed has occurred, and, if so, what sanction is appropriate

Proceedings to revoke one's period of supervised release are construed as a "continuation of the prosecution of the original offense, and not a new prosecution of additional offenses." *State v. Hargus*, 232 W. VA. 735, 742, 753 S.E.2d 893, 700 (2013). Factual determinations made in pursuit of these revocations hearings "do[] not require a finding of guilt by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* A court's decision to revoke one's supervised release and to impose a period of incarcerations "does not violate due process principles," so long as the revocation is based upon the court's finding by clear and convincing evidence that a violation occurred. *Id.*

"Revocation deprives an individual, not of the absolute liberty to which every citizen is entitled, but only of the conditional liberty properly dependent upon the observance of special parole restrictions." *Morrisey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 489 (1972). *See also Dobbs v. Wallace*, 157 W. Va. 405, 411, 201 S.E.2d 914, 917 (1974) ("The parolee's liberty may be limited. He may be enjoined by past transgressions from the pleasures of the full freedoms enjoyed by the unconvicted and he may not be permitted to engage in some of his former activities."). As Justice Breyer noted in his concurrence in *Haymond*, proceedings instituted upon violations of the conditions of a period of supervised release are "first and foremost considered sanctions for the defendant's 'breach of trust'—his 'failure to follow the court-imposed conditions' that followed his initial conviction—not 'for the particular conduct triggering the revocation as if that conduct were being sentenced as a new . . . criminal conduct." *Haymond*, 139 S.Ct. at 2385 (Breyer, J., concurring) (quoting *Johnson v. United States*, 529 U.S. 694, 700 (2000)). Thus, these proceedings "arise from and are 'treat[ed]... as part of the penalty for the initial offense," thus, because "[t]he defendant receives a term of supervised release thanks to his initial offense, ... whether that release is later revoked or sustained [] constitutes part of the final sentence for his [underlying] crime." *Id.* at 2379-80. (citations omitted). This Court has adopted this interpretation, and has recognized:

Although such violations [of supervised release] often lead to reimprisonment, the violative conduct need not be criminal and need only be found by a judge under a preponderance of the evidence standard, not by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. . . Where the acts of violation are criminal in their own right, they may be the basis for a separate prosecution.

Hargus, 232 W.Va. at 741, 752 S.E.2d at 899 (quoting *Johnson*, 529 U.S. at 700). Accordingly, revocation proceedings require the court to only make a "factual determination that an offense has been committed which imparts the conclusion that the rehabilitative and other purposes behind probation have failed." *State v. Ketchum*, 169 W. Va. 9, 12, 289 S.E.2d 657, 659 (1981).

While the controlling legal authorities directly refute Petitioner's argument that he was entitled to a jury for purposes of determining whether he violated the terms of his supervised release, it is important to note the implicit argument therein that such proceedings should be construed as determining "punishment." If Petitioner was correct, it "would raise a double jeopardy issue if the revocation of supervised release were also punishment for the same offense." *Hargus*, 232 W.Va. at 741, 753 S.E.2d at 899 (citing *Johnson*, 529 U.S. at 700 (citations omitted)). Treating any sanctions imposed as "part of the penalty for the initial offense, however, (as most courts have done), avoids these difficulties." *Id.*

Petitioner's assertion that he was entitled to a jury before the revocation of his supervised release is wholly unsupported and is an erroneous interpretation and application of law. Petitioner claims that, at the time he began his period of supervised release, he had already served the maximum sentence for his conviction under West Virginia Code § 61-8B-5. While it is true that

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